FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/14/2021 9:40 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/15/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court Cause No. 99983-0

Court of Appeals Cause No. 80976-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ELLIOTT GIBSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

COSTCO WHOLESALE, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darryl Parker, WSBA # 30770 CIVIL RIGHTS JUSTICE CENTER, PLLC 2150 N 107th Street, Suite 520 Seattle, WA 98133 206-557-7719 dparker@civilrightsjusticecenter.com Attorney for Petitioner

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT6
	A. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the Division One panel's intrusion on the domain of the jury as the factfinder in affirming that Gibson's requested accommodation in June and July 2018 was unreasonable as a matter of law
	B. The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the Division One panel's faulty conclusion that Respondent met its interactive burden as a matter of law13
	C. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) to address an issue of substantial public interest regarding the circumstances in which an involuntary unpaid leave of absence can qualify as a reasonable accommodation under the WLAD18
VI.	CONCLUSION 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

City of Seattle v. Am. Healthcare Servs., 13 Wn. App. 2d 838, 468 P.3d 637 (2020)
Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs., Inc., 189 Wn. App. 776, 358 P.3d 464 (2015).
Davis v. Microsoft Corp., 149 Wn.2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003) 8, 9, 10
Frausto v. Yakima HMA, LLC, 188 Wn.2d 227, 393 P.2d 776 (2017) 7
Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 160 Wn. App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011)
Gamble v. City of Seattle, 431 P.3d 1091 (Wash. App. 2018)
Goodman v. Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995), 13, 14
Griffith v. Boise Cascade, Inc., 111 Wn. App. 436, 45 P.3d 589 (2002), . 8, 9
Kries v. WA-SPOK Primary Care, LLC, 190 Wn. App. 98, 362 P.3d 974 (2015)
LaRose v. King County, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 437 P.3d 701 (2019) 6, 7
McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006) 8
Pulcino v. Fed. Express Corp., 141 Wn.2d 629, 9 P.3d 787 (2000), 8, 18
Slack v. Luke, 192 Wn. App. 909, 370 P.3d 49 (2016)
Tharp v. Univ. of Wash., 143 Wn. App. 1051 (2008)
Washington v. Matheson Flight Extenders, Inc., 440 F. Supp. 3d 1201 (W.D. Wash. 2020)

Rules	
CR 56(e)	7

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Elliott Gibson asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On May 10, 2021, the Court of Appeals Division One issued an opinion affirming summary judgment in favor of Respondent/Defendant Costco Wholesale Corporation ("Costco") on all claims brought against it by Petitioner/Plaintiff Gibson. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A ("Opinion").

On June 14, 2021, Division One denied Gibson's motion for reconsideration of its decision, and granted Costco's motion to publish. Copies of these orders are collectively attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Division One panel improperly intruded upon the domain of the factfinder in determining that Gibson's requested accommodation in June and July 2019 was unreasonable as a matter of law.
- 2. Whether the Division One panel's decision is in conflict with Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent establishing that employers have an affirmative duty to ascertain the

nature and extent of an employee's disability prior to deciding that the employee cannot be accommodated at work.

3. Whether this case presents an issue of substantial public interest as to the circumstances in which an employer may place an employee on an involuntary unpaid leave of absence as a form of reasonable accommodation for the employee's disability.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

It is undisputed that Gibson has a disability which Costco knows prevents him from performing his job absent accommodation. Opinion at 14. Beginning in April 2018, Costco allowed Gibson to take additional breaks during his temporary part-time work schedule (TTD) in relation to this disability. *Id.* at 6-7. The chart note Gibson submitted for this request instructed him to "take breaks as needed 5-20 minutes to manage symptoms." *Id.* at 7.

In late June 2018, Gibson submitted a note from his doctor indicating that he could "return to work immediately." *Id.* at 8. When asked, Gibson indicated that he still needed to take additional breaks, and Costco placed him on leave. *Id.* On July 21, 2018, Gibson submitted a work restriction form indicating he should take breaks of 5-15 minutes hourly as needed. *Id.* at 9. On July 25, Costco sent Gibson notice that it

could not accommodate his restrictions and that his leave was extended to October 31, 2018. *Id*.

This lawsuit was initiated in early October 2018. *Id.* at 10. Later that month, Gibson e-mailed Costco about returning to work. *Id.* Costco organized and held a job assessment meeting (JAM) with Gibson on November 9, 2018. *Id.* On December 12, 2018, Gibson submitted an updated restriction form which requested that he be "allowed to take a 5-15 minute break every hour." *Id.* It also explained that "[h]e may not need breaks this often, but knowing this is an option will decrease his overall stress level helping him be more successful at work." *Id.* at 10-11. Costco held another JAM on December 28, 2018, where it determined that Gibson could return full time with the requested breaks on a trial basis. *Id.* at 11.

It is a disputed matter whether Costco asked Gibson for additional information or documentation on his breaks restriction before he provided the release to work in June. Admin Manager Wendi Mathison and General Manager Sue Larson submitted declarations stating that Gibson's April chart note was "vague" and "raised many questions", and that Costco asked Gibson for clarification which he was unable to provide. CP 479; 567. However, Gibson denied anyone raising any issues with him during his TTD (CP 1117) and provided testimony from his supervisor, Malia Zablan, and a letter from Larson confirming this. CP 705-06; 661-62. He

also submitted an e-mail chain from June 19, wherein he asked Mathison what Costco needed for him to return to full-time work, and was specifically told to submit a doctor's note stating he could start working full time. CP 1018. He stated that Mathison told him only that he needed a "full release" on June 20 (CP 1117-18), and that when he brought the note in on June 22, she told him that "Costco doesn't accommodate restrictions beyond the 12 weeks [of TTD]." CP 180.1

It is also disputed whether Gibson promptly responded to Costco's attempts to communicate with him. Larson stated in affidavits that she attempted to contact him on June 22, 23, 29, and 5, but that Gibson did not respond. CP 568. These e-mails are not included in the record; what is in the record are Gibson's e-mails to Larson on July 4, 5, and 14. CP 804-06. The first of these e-mails specifically requested that Costco communicate with him via mail or e-mail instead of by phone. CP 806.

Larson also stated that she attempted to reach Gibson by phone twice on July 25² with "no success". CP 568. However, Gibson did respond to at least one of these calls that very day at 12:27 p.m. CP 240-

¹ Gibson also sent two e-mails to Larson on July 4 and 14 asking for clarification and stating that he had been told that he had to provide a release without restrictions in order to return. CP 804-06. Larson responded on July 16 that Costco was waiting for "clarification on the need for accommodation, and the expected duration." CP 871.

² According to a letter she later sent, the purpose of these calls was to obtain additional information and clarification about what Gibson's restrictions meant and to determine whether he could perform his job with them. CP 664.

41. In response to this e-mail, Larson merely informed him that his accommodation had already been denied and that his leave had been extended. *Id*.

After receiving this notice, Gibson continued to e-mail back and forth with Larson through July 27, requesting multiple times that she explain what Costco's understanding of his restrictions was and why it could not accommodate him at work. *Id.*; CP 810-11. Through this exchange, Larson continued attempting to call Gibson despite his repeated requests that she contact him via e-mail instead. *Id.* On July 27, she indicated that she hoped to have answers to his questions by the next week. CP 810. After that point, all communication from Costco ceased for approximately three months, until Gibson reached out again in October. CP 680.

A final point of dispute between the parties surrounds whether Gibson was able to perform his job with the restrictions he had in June and July. At summary judgment, Costco submitted two affidavits from Larson indicating that "reliable attendance" is an essential function of all positions (CP 562; 1594), and policy documents listing "taking an extended break" as a cause for disciplinary action. CP 1605. It also presented an unofficial "log" maintained by Zablan from April 26 through June 20, 2018 of each instance wherein she or someone else observed that Gibson was absent

from his workstation. CP 539-40. Zablan and one of Gibson's coworkers submitted affidavits stating that these absences were frequent, causing frustration and prompting Zablan to go look for him. CP 538-39; 557-58.

Gibson denied the accusations of poor work and workstation attendance in his own affidavits. CP 1113; 1116-17. He presented testimony from Zablan that she did not discipline him for his extra breaks because she did not think it was "significant" or "necessary". CP 705-06. He also presented performance reviews that she completed for him from 2017-2019 indicating that he was doing satisfactory work. CP 1008-11. Larson also testified that, while she had concerns about how the breaks might affect the "quantity" of his work, the only actual issue she could recall coming up during his TTD was Gibson failing to consistently check in and out with his supervisors. CP 721-22. Finally, he cited to the JAM notes from December and January, which reflected that Costco eventually trialed and determined that it could accommodate discretionary breaks of 5-15 minutes hourly as needed. CP 237; 1651.

V. ARGUMENT

The standard of review for summary judgment is well-established in Washington law. It is the moving party which must demonstrate by uncontroverted facts and evidence that there is no genuine issue of material fact for trial. *See LaRose v. King County*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 103-

04, 437 P.3d 701 (2019). It is only after this proof is made that the nonmoving party must present evidence to preclude judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* All facts and reasonable inferences must be drawn in favor of the nonmoving party. *Id.*; CR 56(e). Appellate courts are bound by these same rules when reviewing summary judgment appeals. *Frausto v. Yakima HMA*, *LLC*, 188 Wn.2d 227, 231, 393 P.2d 776 (2017).

Although the Division One panel correctly identified many of the applicable precedents and legal principles guiding its review, it did not follow them. Both parties presented hundreds of pages of documentary evidence, testimony, and affidavits to support their positions. Despite Gibson's extensive evidentiary showing, which matched or exceeded Costco's at several key points material to his prima facie case, the panel still elected to rule that his claim must fail as a matter of law. This determination was made without due deference to the evidence presented by Gibson, it misapplies WLAD case law precedent and accepted evidentiary standards, and it more generally runs counter to the particular legal rights, duties, and obligations that both the statute and the case law interpreting it have worked to establish and uphold.

A. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the Division One panel's intrusion on the domain of the jury as the factfinder in affirming that Gibson's requested accommodation in June and July 2018 was unreasonable as a matter of law.

It is notoriously difficult to obtain or present clear, unambiguous evidence of discrimination by an employer. *Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 160 Wn. App. 765, 777, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011). It is for this reason that Washington courts require the WLAD to be "liberally construed" and usually must reject summary judgment unless a plaintiff clearly fails to establish a prima facie element. *Id.*; *Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs.*, *Inc.*, 189 Wn. App. 776, 790, 358 P.3d 464 (2015). The question of whether a requested accommodation was unreasonable or unduly burdensome is almost always one of fact which must be left to a jury. *Pulcino v. Fed. Express Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 629, 644, 9 P.3d 787 (2000), *overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006).

However, there are some cases in which the presented facts demonstrate that the request was unreasonable as a matter of law. *Id.* The Division One panel cited to two such cases: *Griffith v. Boise Cascade, Inc.*, 111 Wn. App. 436, 45 P.3d 589 (2002), and *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003).

In *Griffith*, Division Three was presented with evidence from Griffith's provider and a separate physical capacity evaluation that she was able to perform some but not all of the essential functions of her position. *Griffith*, 111 Wn. App. at 440-41. She requested accommodation

in the form of assistance from another employee, which her employer had previously given her on a temporary basis. *Id.* Division Three concluded that this request was unreasonable as a matter of law because it amounted to a request to remove some of her essential functions. *Id.* at 444.

In *Davis*, this court reviewed specific testimonial evidence that Davis' position regularly involved working flexible, over-60-hour work weeks. *Davis*, 149 Wn.2d at 526-27. The court was also presented with evidence that, when Davis was medically restricted to a structured 40-hour work week, he was by his own admission unable to keep up with his usual workload and had to reduce it by over 50 percent to complete it satisfactorily. *Id.* at 528. Davis nonetheless requested to remain in this position with these restrictions in place, arguing that he was able to satisfactorily complete the reduced workload he had been placed on. *Id.* at 536. This request was deemed unreasonable as a matter of law by this court on the specific basis that the undisputed evidence clearly demonstrated that working a flexible schedule of more than 40 hours per week was an essential function of Davis' position that Davis was unable to meet with his restrictions. *Id.* at 535-36.

In deciding that Gibson's requested breaks accommodation in June 2018 was unreasonable as a matter of law, the Division One panel relied primarily on *Davis*, stating that "[t]he ability to work a particular schedule

can be an essential function" (Opinion at 18) and the WLAD "does not require" an employer to convert a full-time position to a part-time position. Opinion at 20. In doing so, the panel appears to be trying to use *Davis* to establish a "bright-line rule" that any accommodation which impacts (or, as would be more accurate to this case, could impact) the total number of hours worked by an employee must be unreasonable as a matter of law, regardless of the actual demands of the position. But, as recent case law interpreting the WLAD has noted, reasonable accommodation and undue hardship are "fact-dependent concepts that are rarely amenable to bright-line rules." *Washington v. Matheson Flight Extenders, Inc.*, 440 F. Supp. 3d 1201, 1210 (W.D. Wash. 2020).

The *Davis* ruling itself highlights this point. The court did not determine that Davis' request to a lesser work schedule was universally unreasonable, merely that it was specifically inconsistent with the "type of job presence and service that is indispensable to being a Microsoft systems engineer." *Davis*, 149 Wn.2d at 535. This was a fact-specific determination which was made only after Microsoft presented clear

_

³ This discussion occurred in the context of Zablan's unofficial break logs, which reflected some days in which Gibson was alleged to be on break for a total of one hour out of his then-five-hour shift. The panel noted that this would be "equivalent to converting a full-time position to a part-time position" if viewed as an accommodation request. Opinion at 19-20.

evidence that such presence and service were in fact indispensable. As with *Griffith*, the determination in *Davis* ultimately came down to the employer proving via uncontroverted evidence that the requested accommodation was incompatible with the essential functions of the employee's particular job.

By contrast, Costco presented no evidence at summary judgment that working a certain number of hours was necessary to complete all job tasks for Gibson's position. The Job Analysis it used for his position does not state that a full-time schedule is required, (CP 1620-24) nor does the phrase "reliable attendance" appear anywhere within it. *Id.* And even taking this function as essential per Larson's affidavits, Costco still needed to demonstrate uncontroverted evidence that Gibson's requested accommodation did not allow him to meet this requirement.

However, while Zablan and Gibson's coworker claimed poor workstation attendance and performance, Gibson denied the majority of these accusations and presented documentary evidence that he was able to satisfactorily perform his job both in 2018 and in 2019 even with additional breaks. Aside from Gibson needing to consistently check in and out with his supervisors, Larson's affidavits, testimony, and letter all consisted of merely speculative ways in which Gibson's breaks *could* impact his work or the department. It is well-established that "[a] party

may not rely on speculation or having its own affidavits accepted at face value." *Slack v. Luke*, 192 Wn. App. 909, 916, 370 P.3d 49 (2016). Larson's theoretical concerns about Gibson's performance are not sufficient to award summary judgment for Costco without supporting evidence that the concerns had actual merit.

However, the majority of Gibson's evidence went unacknowledged by the Division One panel in its analysis. Instead, it misapplied *Davis* to determine that Gibson's accommodation request in June was unreasonable. It then adopted Costco's disputed viewpoint that Gibson's restrictions had changed enough between July and November that his request had by then become reasonable. This determination was made without citation to any legal authority, or even to the record. The baseline accommodation, for 5-15 minute breaks up to hourly, did not change. Whether there was a meaningful and material difference between Gibson's restrictions sufficient to impact the reasonableness of his accommodation request between July and November is not settled in the record and requires the input of a fact-finding jury.

The panel's opinion does not demonstrate that it construed the facts and inferences in Gibson's favor as required, nor that it properly applied the available case precedent to this set of facts. If the cost of an accommodation is not clearly disproportionate, then it is reasonable. *Kries*

v. WA-SPOK Primary Care, LLC, 190 Wn. App. 98, 143, 362 P.3d 974 (2015). Costco did not demonstrate that Gibson's requested accommodation was disproportionately costly, and Gibson in turn made a strong evidentiary showing to support that he was qualified for his position with the accommodation requested.

B. The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the Division One panel's faulty conclusion that Respondent met its interactive burden as a matter of law.

In *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 408, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995), this court held that once made aware of an employee's disability, an employer has an affirmative duty under the WLAD to "determine the nature and extent of the disability." The employee, while he must "cooperate with the employer's efforts by explaining [his] disability and qualifications", is not required to "[inform] the employer of the full nature and extent of the disability." *Id*.

Goodman has served as significant legal precedent for numerous failure to accommodate cases over the last 25 years. Division One in particular has historically emphasized the importance of the *Goodman* interactive process when determining whether an employer met its reasonable accommodation duties. *See Frisino*, 160 Wn. App. at 779-80. Within the last year alone, Division One affirmed reversal of summary judgment in a failure to accommodate case in significant part on the basis

that the employer failed to demonstrate as a matter of law that it met its interactive burden under *Goodman*. *See City of Seattle v. Am. Healthcare Servs.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 838, 468 P.3d 637 (2020).

In affirming as a matter of law here that Costco's actions (or lack thereof, as the case may be) did not amount to a failure to interact with Gibson, the panel's decision comes dangerously close to relieving employers of the affirmative burden established in *Goodman*. The record demonstrates clear questions of fact as to the actual content of Costco's communications with Gibson, as well as whether the methods used were reasonable under the circumstances. To ignore these unresolved issues also requires ignoring the clear purpose of the interactive process—to work together and exchange information in good faith. *See Am. Healthcare Servs.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 857; *see also Goodman*, 127 Wn.2d at 408-09.

First, the panel determined as a matter of law that "Costco was engaging in the interactive process on June 20, 2018 when it met with Gibson, and on June 22 when Gibson worked an additional shift" and that Gibson "had not responded in that process with the necessary medical information and, as a result, had not achieved agreed upon accommodations." Opinion at 17. However, merely engaging in meetings

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