FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/27/2021 4:27 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 99983-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ELLIOTT GIBSON,

Petitioner,

v.

COSTCO WHOLESALE, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

WINTERBAUER & DIAMOND PLLC

Steven H. Winterbauer, WSBA #16468 Nicholas Gillard-Byers, WSBA #45707 Attorneys for Respondent

WINTERBAUER & DIAMOND PLLC

7683 SE 27th St. #495 Mercer Island, Washington 98040 Telephone: (206) 676-8440 Facsimile: (206) 676-8441

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Trial Court Properly Applied Existing Precedent, Including *Davis* and *Goodman*.

Petitioner's argument that the Court of Appeals alternately misapplied and diminished, if not eviscerated, well-established precedent, specifically *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003), and *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995), is without merit. As for the former, Petitioner argues that the appellate court misapplied *Davis* to establish "a 'bright-line rule' that any accommodation which impacts...the total number of hours worked by an employee must be unreasonable as a matter of law, regardless of the actual demands of the position." *Petition* at 10. He adds that "Costco presented no evidence at summary judgment that working a certain number of hours was necessary

to complete all job tasks for Gibson's position." *Id.* at 11. Both points miss the mark.

To begin with, there is nothing in the record to suggest, let alone establish for purposes of Supreme Court review, that the Court of Appeals posited, or attempted to posit, any "bright line rule," including one based on *Davis*. To the contrary, the appellate court's opinion makes clear, both directly and indirectly, that it rests on a fact-specific, individualized analysis, as it should. Like the trial court's prior ruling, the appellate court's decision rests on examination of an unusually developed and detailed evidential record. Petitioner himself notes that "[b]oth parties presented hundreds of pages of documentary evidence, testimony, and affidavits to support their positions." *Petition* at 7. The appellate court's opinion begins with nearly 12 consecutive pages of fact recitation and analysis, comprising roughly 60% of the substance of the writing. Those 12 pages include several instances where the appellate court specifically indicates whether a particular fact is material or disputed or comments on its significance. This is a fact-specific analysis, not blind application of an inflexible "bright line rule."

As to *Davis* specifically, the appellate court cites the case for three discrete points of law: (i) that "part-time TTD is not a form of required accommodation" (*Petition* at 15); (ii) that an essential function is "a job

duty that is fundamental, basic, necessary and indispensable to filling a particular position" (*id.* at 18); and (iii) that "[t]he ability to work a particular schedule can be an essential function." (*id.*). None of these is controversial. None is challenged by Petitioner. None establishes a "bright-line rule." And the one Petitioner focuses on, point (iii), clearly disavows such a rule, stating that attendance "<u>can</u>" be essential, not that it always "is." (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals clearly provided Petitioner precisely the individualized, fact-specific analysis he claims to have been denied. It did not conjure an inflexible rule based on *Davis* and then apply it in a rote manner as Petitioner contends.

And the appellate court reached the correct conclusion. While there is no bright-line rule, precedent recognizes that as a general proposition regular, dependable attendance is an essential function of many, if not most, jobs: "Employers generally do not have to accommodate repeated instances of tardiness or absenteeism that occur with some frequency, over an extended period of time and often without notice," because "[u]nder these or similar circumstances, an employee who is chronically, frequently and unpredictably absent may not be able to perform one or more essential functions of the job." <u>EEOC Enforcement</u> <u>Guidance, The Americans with Disabilities Act: Applying Performance</u> and Conduct Standards to Employees with Disabilities, at pp. 14-15 (https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/guidance/applying-performance-and-conductstandards-employees-disabilities#issues). While canvassing multiple other jurisdictions, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has reached the same conclusion. Samper v. Providence St. Vincent Med. Ctr., 675 F.3d 1233, 1237–38 (9th Cir. 2012) and cases cited therein. This is also the basic holding in Davis. And it is especially true in the context of jobs which, like Petitioner's, must be performed on site and involve, among other things, troubleshooting time-sensitive customer-related issues in a highvolume business. CP 561-62, 1595, 1620-24.

The appellate court's opinion also shows that, contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the record includes a great deal of evidence alternately undisputed and beyond dispute—that establishes that regular, dependable attendance was, in fact, an essential function of Petitioner's specific job. The appellate court devotes three full paragraphs, more than a full page, to evaluating this evidence, which, again, Petitioner now claims does not even exist. *See Opinion* at pp. 19-20. And there is still more evidence in the record that the appellate court did not expressly mention. This includes, for example, that Petitioner's job was a regular full-time position; the job description speaks to the need to handle myriad issues, including 100-200 calls per day—troubleshoot—with a "high degree of urgency"; managers testified it requires consistent, dependable attendance; co-workers complained about the added burden of Petitioner's unreliable presence; management had to cover his absences via employee transfers and ultimately hire new staff; and Respondent has a strict attendance policy that it has consistently applied to Petitioner's department, issuing discipline to several persons holding his same position for unreliability, including excessive breaks. CP 536-539, 557-58, 1592-1593, 560-562, 1595-96, 1620-1624.

Here, it bears noting that Petitioner, not Respondent, is guilty of attempting to manufacture a bright line rule. Petitioner flatly states that, "If the cost of an accommodation is not clearly disproportionate, then it is reasonable." *Petition* at 12-13, citing *Kries v. WA-SPOK Primary Care LLC*, 190 Wn. App. 98, 143, 362 P.3d 974 (2015). He argues the appellate court ignored or overlooked this point of law, and that this error is critical because "Costco did not demonstrate that Gibson's requested accommodation was disproportionately costly." *Id.* He is mistaken. This case has nothing to do with the "cost" of an accommodation, and everything to do with the long-settled notion that an accommodation is not reasonable if it involves relief from an essential function.

The accommodation obligation does not require employers to relieve employees of essential functions. They must reasonably assist

disabled employees in *meeting* essential job functions, not lower, reallocate or eliminate them. Doe v. Boeing, 121 Wn.2d 8, 18, 846 P.2d 531 (1993); Dean v. METRO, 104 Wn.2d 627, 641, 708 P.2d 393 (1985). See also 29 C.F.R. Section 1630.2(n) app. (2011); Warner v. City of Carlsbad, 58 F.3d 439, 441 (9th Cir. 1995). If, with reasonable accommodation, a disabled employee cannot perform an essential function, he is not qualified for the job and may be discharged, even where non-performance traces to the disability. RCW 49.60.180(1)("[T]he prohibition against discrimination because of such disability shall not apply if the particular disability prevents the proper performance of the particular work involved."); WAC 162-22-020(3)(WLAD protects an "able worker with a disability" which "is a person whose disability does not prevent the proper performance, without or without reasonable accommodation, of the particular job in question"); Davis, 149 Wn.2d at 534-35 ("[T]his court has previously stated that 'an employer may discharge a handicapped employee who is unable to perform an essential function of the job, without attempting to accommodate that deficiency.""), quoting, Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist., 106 Wn.2d 102, 119, 720 P.2d 793 (1986); Roness v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., 394 F. Supp. 3d 1324 (W.D. Wash. 2019); Molloy v. City of Bellevue, 71 Wn. App. 382, 859 P.2d 613 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1024, 875 P.2d 635

(1994) (officer not qualified and lawfully discharged because disability prevented essential function of patrol duty).

As noted above, the evidence and legal precedent also show that attendance was an essential function of Petitioner's job. Together, the above principles permit an employer to not only place on leave, but discharge, an employee for disability-related absenteeism, especially where, as here, the unreliable attendance persists after prior accommodation. By June 2018, Respondent had already provided Petitioner, over the preceding four years, nine medical leaves, two reassignments, two TTD assignments, and months of adjusted hours, yet he still could not maintain reliable hours, even part-time, let alone fulltime. CP 543-46. The history showed that, even with reasonable accommodation, Petitioner's condition prevented proper performance of the job.

For this reason, Petitioner's argument fails before one even gets to an undue hardship analysis. By June 2018, the issue is whether, on the heels of years of prior accommodation and continued inability to maintain reliable attendance, Petitioner is a qualified person with a disability for purposes of a prima facie case or, stated differently, whether Respondent was legally required to relieve him of the essential function of reliable attendance. The answer to both questions is no. Applied to the specific facts of this case, *Davis* supports this conclusion and was properly relied upon by the appellate court.

Petitioner's argument in relation to *Goodman* is without merit as well. He argues that the evidence of Respondent engaging in the interactive practice is so paltry that "the panel's decision comes dangerously close to relieving employers of the affirmative burden established in Goodman." *Petition* at 14. This is a remarkable statement, and a demonstrably erroneous one, given the wealth of evidence to the contrary. The record is replete with evidence of an interactive process that covered not only the specific months-long window upon which Petitioner focuses, but a broader span of several consecutive years.

Rather than falling short of satisfying the interactive process requirements noted in *Goodman*, Respondent exceeded them. Correspondingly, the appellate court's opinion fortifies, rather than undermines, *Goodman* insofar as it includes a detailed fact summary that demonstrates how the interactive process should work.

Petitioner also attempts to create a public interest debate over holdings that were not part of the underlying decision. *Petition* at 18-20. Specifically, he argues the Court of Appeals created "a loophole to put employees on involuntary unpaid leave as a means to temporarily suspend their interactive burdens or duty to accommodate." *Id.* This is incorrect.

Petitioner acknowledges that leave may be used as an accommodation "of last resort" and the evidence shows that is how it was used here. As the appellate court opinion notes, prior to the leave period Petitioner challenges, he was already on a TTD subject to medical accommodation. *Opinion* at 18. Despite receiving the requested accommodation (which, as the appellate court also noted, exceeded WLAD requirements) from March through June 2018, Petitioner was unable to perform his essential job functions. *Id.* at 19. Thus, the leave was a "last resort," which, again, Petitioner acknowledges was permissible.

B. The Appellate Court's Alleged Disposition of Fact Issues Does Not Present Valid Grounds for Review.

Petitioner's final argument—i.e., that the appellate court invaded the province of the jury by unilaterally resolving material fact disputes does not change the result. To make this argument, Petitioner stretches the concept of a material factual dispute to the breaking point, essentially argument that summary judgment must be denied so long as he contests an assertion by the moving party. This is incorrect. The dispute must be material. His contrary position must be supported by some meaningful measure of admissible evidence. And even then, the question is not merely whether the issue is disputed in some fashion but rather whether, given the totality of the evidence, a jury could reasonably find in his favor. Ignoring all this, Petitioner faults the appellate court (and the trial court) for analyzing the evidential record at all.

But that is what the appellate court is required to do. Again, the ultimate issue is whether a jury could reasonably find in Petitioner's favor. This requires the court to evaluate the evidence to some degree. This is a routine, time-honored gate-keeping function. Upon performing it, the trial and appellate courts held that there were no genuine issues of material fact, Respondent is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and, therefore, summary judgment was properly granted. The review process at both levels, i.e., before the trial court and then before the Court of Appeals, was straightforward, regular, and entirely consistent with the letter and spirit of the rules and standards governing summary judgment and appellate review. Nothing about the history of this case is unusual, let alone of significant public interest.

Further, both courts were correct in the determination that there was no genuine issue of material fact. On this point, Petitioner's petition ignores significant portions of the evidential record, while misstating others. For instance, Petitioner argues that: "It is a disputed matter whether Costco asked Gibson for additional information on his breaks restriction before he provided the release to work in June." *Petition* at 3. He pressed the same argument to the trial court and then to the Court of

Appeals. They considered it thoughtfully, rejected it squarely, and concluded it was both inaccurate as a matter of fact and irrelevant as a matter of law. It still is. As for the former, while the precise communication between Petitioner and Respondent on June 20 is arguably disputed, it is undisputed that Respondent asked Petitioner for updated medical information regarding his breaks restriction during the latter part of his period of TTD as well as thereafter; it is undisputed that Petitioner personally told Respondent of his on-going breaks restriction within days of the June exchange; and it is undisputed that shortly thereafter, in July, Respondent inquired again, in writing, and Petitioner's healthcare provider responded, in writing. CP 151, 183, 226, 568, 668-71. There is no material fact dispute. In ruling for Respondent, the court of appeals (like the trial court) concluded that, regardless of what was or was not asked on June 20, there is no dispute that Petitioner continued to have a breaks restriction, Respondent knew this, and this was the basis for certain of Respondent's actions. On these points, the points that were relied upon by the courts, there is no dispute. On the narrower point of what was or was not said during a single brief exchange on June 20, when the breaks restriction was already known and documented, there may be mild dispute, but there is no materiality.

Petitioner's argument is not advanced the by other facts which he claims were in dispute and then impermissibly resolved on appeal. For instance, he argues that "[i]t is also disputed whether Gibson promptly responded to Costco's attempts to communicate with him." *Petition* at 4. Actually, it is not. The undisputed fact is that Petitioner did not respond to a series of overtures in June and July, sometimes ignoring them altogether, other times responding but without engaging. CP 566-67, 211, 552-53, 568-69, 672-74. And, again, the broader point is that even if there were a dispute (and there is not) it would not be material. Nowhere does the appellate court's decision state, or even intimate, that its decision rests on the determination that Petitioner failed to timely respond to Costco's attempts to communicate with him.

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